Guide on Oral Presentations


Oral Presentations: Appropriate or Not Appropriate?

Oral presentations could be appropriate, for instance, where the Government is acquiring advisory and assistance support services. Under such circumstances, the oral presentation can be effectively used to determine the Offeror’s technical acceptability. For example, the Government could give an Offeror a  “pop-quiz” sample task and a certain number of hours within which to present its solution to that sample task. As mentioned, in this context the oral presentation can become a type of job interview (in this regard, FAR 15.102(a) states that “[o]ral presentations provide an opportunity for dialogue among the parties”) where the emphasis is on ascertaining the abilities and demeanor of the Offeror’s proposed personnel – as long as the oral presentation stays within the parameters described later in this section. 
In contrast, reasonable people could disagree on whether oral presentations are appropriate for the acquisition of complex equipment or software. Such source selections invariably require evaluators to understand and evaluate sophisticated technical approaches based upon complicated mathematical information or physical phenomena ​– described by the Offerors’ aeronautical/mechanical/electrical engineers and computer scientists – that ordinarily must be written down and could take weeks (if not months) to carefully analyze. 
It is asking a great deal of evaluators to listen to, and properly evaluate, the contents of an Offeror’s oral presentation for complex equipment or software acquisitions – because, in general, it is easier for human beings to comprehend information they receive in writing as opposed to that which they hear. It is acknowledged that, consistent with FAR 15.102(e), all oral presentations are videotaped or audiotape recorded and thus a record exists of what was said. (Note:  In the event other than Government employees are operating the video or audio equipment, the same rules that apply to support contractor evaluation advisors, minus the D&F requirements, apply). But it may require evaluators as much (if not more) time to find and repeatedly listen to relevant excerpts from a video or audiotape than it would have taken them to review an Offeror’s written technical approach containing complicated information – assuming the audio is not garbled. 
What Should Be Included in an Oral Presentation? 

After having determined whether oral presentations are appropriate for a particular acquisition, the next question to be answered is what part of the Offeror’s proposal should be submitted to the Government via an oral presentation. In theory, much of the Offeror’s proposal may be submitted as part of its oral presentation. In this regard, FAR 15.102(c) states that information pertaining to areas such as an Offeror’s capability, past performance, work plans or approaches, staffing resources, transition plans, or sample tasks (or other types of tests) may be suitable for oral presentations. 
In contrast, FAR 15.102(b) states that certifications, representations, and a signed offer sheet (including any exceptions to the Government’s terms and conditions) must be submitted in writing. Similarly, as counseled by OFPP, an Offeror’s cost/price proposal must be submitted in writing.  

FAR 15.102(c) states that, in deciding what information to obtain through an oral presentation, the Government should consider the following:
1. The Government’s ability to adequately evaluate the information;

2. The need to incorporate any information into the resultant contract;

3. The impact on the efficiency of the acquisition; and

4. The impact (including cost) on small businesses. In considering the costs of oral presentations, contracting officers should also consider alternatives to on-site oral presentations (e.g. teleconferencing or video teleconferencing).

When Should the Oral Presentation Occur?

After having determined what part of the Offeror’s proposal should be submitted to the Government via an oral presentation, the next question to be answered is when should the oral presentations occur?  The significance of the answer to this question is reflected in the following quotation from FAR 15.102(g):  “If, during an oral presentation, the Government conducts discussions (see FAR 15.306(d), the Government must comply with FAR 15.306 and FAR 15.307).” And behind that innocuous sentence lies a trap for the unwary. 

If, for example, oral presentations will occur after the establishment of a competitive range, then there is a much broader range of questions that evaluators can (and in some cases must) ask the Offeror – because then the Government can conduct “discussions.”  Under such circumstances, the oral presentation can become an extensive impromptu question-and-answer session that can be of great benefit to the Government in quickly determining the technical acceptability of an Offeror’s proposal.   

In contrast, if oral presentations will occur either prior to establishment of a competitive range, or if the Government contemplates awarding without discussions, then for the most part the type of questions that the Government may pose to the Offeror during oral presentations is limited to so-called “clarification” questions. (The only exception would be if the Government wishes to engage in “communications” with Offerors – but that approach presupposes the Government will establish a competitive range.)  FAR 15.306(a)(2) provides the following examples of such questions:  (1) relevance of an Offeror’s past performance information, (2) adverse past performance information to which the Offeror has not previously had an opportunity to respond, and (3) questions that permit the Offeror to resolve “minor” or “clerical” errors.

There are very few Government Accountability Office (GAO) bid protest decisions that discuss whether a question an agency posed to an Offeror – irrespective of whether the question was posed during an oral presentation – was a permissible “clarification” question or whether it was a “discussion” question for which the agency should have first established a competitive range before posing that question to an Offeror. Basically, the issue boils down to whether the question posed by the Government permitted an Offeror to revise or modify its proposal. If so, the Government impermissibly conducted “discussions” with that Offeror before establishing a competitive range and the Government should have had “meaningful” discussions with that Offeror and all other Offerors in the competitive ranged – but failed to do so. Under such circumstances, if an unsuccessful Offeror protests that Government conduct, GAO or the Court of Federal Claims would probably sustain the bid protest – and the agency will then have to terminate for convenience, formally establish a competitive range, conduct discussions, request/receive/evaluate final proposal revisions, and make a new award decision. 
As can be seen, the posing of even one innocuously worded question by the Government to an Offeror during an oral presentation where the Government intends to award without discussions might open a Pandora’s Box that could seriously disrupt the Government’s ability to obtain its requirements in a timely manner. Merely labeling a particular question – by using a statement to that effect in the solicitation, stating so at the time the question is posed, and/or asserting so after a bid protest is filed – as a “clarification” question probably does not solve the problem. In other words, if the content of the question “walks” like an opportunity for an Offeror to revise or modify their proposal and “quacks” like an opportunity for an Offeror to revise or modify their proposal, GAO and/or the Court of Federal Claims (the other bid protest forum) will probably characterize that question as a “discussion” question. 
And remember:  Even if the Government carefully phrases its question in such a manner that it intended to pose a “clarification” question, it will not know whether its attempt has succeeded until the Offeror answers that question. Unfortunately, the Offeror may take the opportunity to answer the question in such a manner that in so doing it revises or modifies its proposal. Of course, by that time it will be too late to stuff the proverbial genie (i.e., retract the question) back into the bottle – the damage will have been done.  

What Types of Questions Are Acceptable During Oral Presentations?

So, what types of questions would pass muster as “clarification” questions?  Frankly, the few bid protest decisions that discuss this topic do not shed much helpful light on the subject. Therefore, the following examples are provided as guidance only. Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the Contracting Officer, in consultation with Counsel, to decide which questions will be posed to Offerors during oral presentations:
· Example of minor/clerical error:  “Slide 15 of your oral presentation slides says 

25.7 decibels. Slide 17 of your oral presentation slides says 257 decibels. 

Please clarify this apparent inconsistency.”
· Example of adverse past performance:  “Slide 37 of your oral presentation

slides states that you worked on the CYBER contract. We have been informed

that you received a Show Cause Notice during the time you worked on that

contract because you failed to deliver the equipment in accordance with the

delivery schedule. Did you believe the Government was justified in issuing 

such a Notice?  If not, why not?”

· Example of relevancy of past performance:  “Slide 28 of your oral

presentations slides indicates that you worked on the CYBER contract. But the

description you provided in your proposal of the work you performed on that

contract doesn’t appear to be similar to that the Statement of Objectives

appended to this solicitation will require you to perform after award. Can you please

clarify why you believe the work you did performing the CYBER contract is

similar to that you would be expected to perform under this contract?”

· “Which specific page of your proposal contains X?”

Solicitation Requirements Regarding Oral Presentations

Your solicitation must contain certain information regarding the manner in which oral presentations will be conducted if they are included in the evaluation process. FAR 15.102(d) states that solicitations may describe the following:

· The types of information to be presented orally and the associated evaluation factors that will be used.

· The qualifications for personnel that will be required to provide the oral presentation(s).

· The requirements for, and any limitations and/or prohibitions on, the use of written material or other media to supplement the oral presentations.

· The location, date, and time for oral presentations.

· The restrictions governing the time permitted for each oral presentation. 

· The scope of exchanges that may occur between the Government’s participants and the Offeror’s representatives as part of the oral presentations, including whether or not discussions (FAR 15.306(d)) will be permitted during oral presentations.
Conclusion

Oral presentations can be a very powerful tool in helping the Government determine which Offeror has proposed the greatest overall benefit in response to the requirement. But if used incorrectly, conducting oral presentations can result in either a delayed award or an award to the wrong Offeror. 

Just remember the following: 

1. First, decide whether oral presentations are appropriate for your particular acquisition.

2. If oral presentations are deemed appropriate, determine what type of information should be included in the oral presentations.

3. Next, ensure that the solicitation provides the right information to Offerors so they may structure their oral presentations accordingly.

4. Finally, establish what permissible questions may be posed during a question-and-answer session. 
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